RECEIVED

May 06 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge
Honorable Heath P. Taylor, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

WILLIS TERREL IVEY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001916

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MOLLY M. KEEGAN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court's failure to dismiss appellant's pending charges violated his right to a speedy trial where appellant was arrested on June 15, 2018, but the case was not called for trial until November 4, 2024, over six years after appellant's arrest?

II.

Whether the trial court erred by denying appellant's motion for a directed verdict as to the ABHAN charge where the state failed to establish that appellant had the necessary *mens rea* to support the charge?

III.

Whether the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to provide a jury charge on specific intent related to the ABHAN charge because subsection (b) functions like an attempt statute?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was initially arrested and charged in June 2018, with assault on a police officer while resisting arrest, attempted unlawful taking of a weapon from law enforcement, failure to stop for blue lights, two counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and two counts of murder.¹ Appellant was subsequently charged with assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) in July 2021, for an incident which occurred while incarcerated. On October 24, 2024, he was directly indicted by the Charleston County grand jury for ABHAN which was alleged to have occurred during his June 2018 arrest. R*(indictments). Appellant remained without bond and incarcerated in pretrial detention since his arrest in June of 2018.

The prosecution, represented by Daniel W. Cooper and Jewell Marie Gearding, called appellant's case for trial on November 4, 2024, before the Honorable Heath P. Taylor. R. 40. Grant Bradley Smaldone represented appellant. R. 40. The jury ultimately found appellant guilty of ABHAN and failure to stop for blue lights and acquitted him of attempted unlawful taking of a weapon from a law enforcement officer. R. 295, ll. 5-23. Judge Taylor imposed a total imprisonment sentence of eighteen years. R. 304, 1.24 – 305, 1. 6. Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal.

This brief follows.

¹ Following trial, the state dismissed the two counts of murder, two counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and the 2021 ABHAN. The state also did not move forward on the charge of assault on a police officer while resisting arrest. R. 65, ll. 9-10.

ARGUMENTS

I.

The trial court's failure to dismiss appellant's pending charges violated his right to a speedy trial where appellant was arrested on June 15, 2018, but the case was not called for trial until November 4, 2024, over six years after appellant's arrest.

Standard of Review

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy trial.” U.S. Const. amend. VI; *see also Klopfer v. North Carolina*, 386 U.S. 213, 87 S. Ct. 988 (1967); *Wheeler v. State*, 247 S.C. 393, 147 S.E.2d 627 (1966). Likewise, our state constitution guarantees that “[a]ny person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy trial.” S.C. Const. art. I, § 14. A speedy trial means a trial without unreasonable and unnecessary delay. *State v. Hunsberger*, 418 S.C. 335, 342, 794 S.E.2d 368, 371 (2016) (citing *State v. Langford*, 400 S.C. 421, 441, 735 S.E.2d 471, 482 (2012)).

The remedy for a speedy trial violation is dismissal of the charges. *Id.* (citing *Langford*, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482). The trial court's ruling on a motion for speedy trial is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Id.* An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's decision is based on an error of law or upon factual findings that are without evidentiary support. *Id.* at 342, 794 S.E.2d at 372 (citing *Langford*, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482).

Relevant Facts

Pretrial speedy trial motions

On June 15, 2018, appellant was arrested for failure to stop for blue lights and attempted unlawful taking of a weapon from a law enforcement officer and several other outstanding

warrants, including: two counts of murder and two counts of possession of weapon during commission of a violent crime. Appellant was subsequently charged for ABHAN for an incident that occurred while he was incarcerated in Al Cannon Detention Center on July 21, 2021. Finally, on October 24, 2024, appellant was directly indicted by the Charleston County grand jury for ABHAN which was alleged to have occurred during his June 2018 arrest. R. 331-348.

Appellant consented to two scheduling orders on January 28, 2020, and August 12, 2021, with the latter providing that trial would not be scheduled until February 1, 2022. R. 6, 11.

Importantly, appellant has consistently asserted his speedy trial rights. For instance, he first asserted his speedy trial rights on September 12, 2022, by moving for a speedy trial. R. 13. On January 6, 2023, he moved to dismiss his case or in the alternative set a reasonable bond. R. 14.

On February 2, 2023, the trial court held a hearing on appellant's motion for a speedy trial. R. 17, ll. 5-8.² Procedurally, defense counsel argued that appellant had been incarcerated since his June 15, 2018, arrest and had several bond hearings. R. 17, ll. 12-15. Regarding the speedy trial motion, defense counsel argued that appellant had been incarcerated for nearly five years, there was outstanding discovery mainly comprising of DNA evidence that "SLED ha[d] just been sitting on," and contended that it was unfair for appellant to remain in jail because "SLED [did not] want to test for DNA." R. 18, l. 17 – 4, l.6. He also highlighted the potential concerns of spoliation or tampering due to the length of time the DNA evidence went untested. R. 19, ll. 2-3. Defense counsel requested that a speedy trial be granted, or, in the alternative, for release on PR bond. R. 19, ll. 7-10. Regarding bond, defense counsel argued that appellant was thirty-one years old, he had lived in the area his whole life, he had family present, and he had

² The Honorable Bentley Price heard the speedy trial motion and ultimately entered the order granting a speedy trial.

five children. R. 19, ll. 11-25. Finally, defense counsel argued that pursuant to the case management order, appellant had waited “nine times the case management order’s declaration,” for DNA, which was prejudicial. R. 20, ll. 10-19. He maintained that the remedy was dismissal without prejudice. R. 20, l. 20 – 21, l. 2.

The state responded that appellant’s case had been assigned to an analyst since January of 2020. R. 21, ll. 13-14. The state posited that SLED was moving to a new lab, and there was “nothing [the state] can do about that.” R. 21, ll. 15-17. The state conceded that appellant had been in jail for five years but argued that appellant had two separate murder charges, two charges for possession of a weapon, failure to stop and assaulting a police officer while resisting arrest, and that he “picked up an ABHAN charge inside the jail.” R. 21, l. 18 – 22, l. 1. The state continued that both murder cases had DNA evidence waiting with SLED that it believed would be dispositive and asserted that waiting for SLED was “not the State’s fault.” R. 22, ll. 17-23. The court responded that, “[n]o, it’s definitely y’all’s fault,” citing to the prejudice addressed in *Langford*. R. 22, l. 24 – 23, l. 2. The state replied that it understood that, as a solicitor, it was “part of the State with SLED” but contended that the state had not done anything inappropriately. R. 23, ll. 3-6. The state continued that it had not “failed to do something” and reiterated that, although it wished it had another DNA lab, “this [was not] the fault of the State.” R. 23, l. 21 – 24, l. 2. The court again determined that “[t]his was 100 percent the fault of the State, and [appellant was] being prejudiced by that by sitting in there for five years.” R. 24, ll. 3-5. The court granted the motion for a speedy trial and reminded “everybody what the ramifications . . . and what [could] be [the] ultimate resolution if [it] grant[ed] the speedy trial motion and it’s not adhered to.” R. 24, ll. 8-9, 12-15.

Thereafter, the trial court, in recognizing that appellant's speedy trial rights had been violated, granted the motion for a speedy trial in a written order on February 14, 2023. R. 306. It further ordered that appellant was to be tried within ninety (90) days. R. 306. Moreover, the court's order provided that appellant was to receive a hearing to address bond, as he had been held without bond since his 2018 arrest. R. 306. Despite that, on July 18, 2023, Judge Price denied the defense motion to set a reasonable bond. R. 29. However, the court ordered that if appellant's case was not disposed of prior to July 31, 2023, a reasonable bond should be set. R. 29. On October 31, 2023, Judge Price again denied appellant's motion to set bond. R. 30. Appellant never received a bond. Appellant remained in pretrial detention for approximately six-and-a-half years.

Nevertheless, following the trial court's order granting a speedy trial, on May 25, 2023, defense counsel filed a motion to dismiss because appellant had not received a speedy trial. R. 27. He argued that an order granting a speedy trial was issued on February 14, 2023, but as of May 25, 2023, appellant had not been tried for any of the alleged offenses. R. 27. As a remedy, defense counsel requested dismissal with prejudice and a hearing. R. 27.

On March 20, 2024, defense counsel again moved for dismissal due to speedy trial violations. R. 31. He argued that the court issued an order granting a speedy trial, but no relief had been granted. R. 32. Defense counsel requested dismissal with prejudice of appellant's pending Charleston County General Sessions charges because he had suffered extreme delay and an immense length of pretrial detention. R. 34. Defense counsel attached several exhibits to his motion, including: orders denying bond, the prior motions to dismiss, and consent scheduling orders. R. 2-9, 11-13, 27-30.

Finally, on October 31, 2024, defense counsel filed his third motion to dismiss with prejudice for speedy trial violations following the trial court's order granting relief. R. 36. He reiterated that the court ordered a speedy trial on all warrants, but no relief had been seen. R. 36. He maintained that he had not waived his right to a speedy trial under the United States or South Carolina Constitutions. R. 36. For a third time, defense counsel requested dismissal with prejudice of appellant's pending charges. R. 38.

Assertion of speedy trial rights at trial

It was not until appellant's case was called to trial on November 4, 2024, that the court addressed the outstanding defense motions for dismissal based on speedy trial violations. R. 48, ll. 7-8. During pretrial, defense counsel reiterated that the court had previously granted a speedy trial on February 14, 2023, and that he had filed several motions to dismiss after appellant's case was not called to trial, in violation of the court's order. R. 48, ll. 6-16. He argued that appellant had been in jail for more than six years and that "this case has been delayed, delayed, reassigned, delayed, SLED didn't test the evidence until they had it for about five years on – on a related charge." R. 49, ll. 17-24. He entered the 2023 Order granting a speedy trial as Court's Exhibit 1. R. 50, ll. 17-23; R 306. He argued that although appellant was directly indicted for ABHAN in October of 2024, that did not change the analysis as that charge was based on the same underlying facts. R. 51, ll. 1-8. He emphasized that the speedy trial violation encompassed the 2024 ABHAN indictment. R. 51, ll. 6-8.

The state responded and provided "background." R. 51, l. 25 – 52, l. 1. The state explained that the charged murders occurred separately in October and December of 2017. R. 52, ll. 1-5. The state explained that appellant was located by the United States Marshals Service and arrested on June 15, 2018. R. 52, ll. 5-6. The state conceded that, by its own fault, it did not

send the DNA evidence for these cases to SLED until 2019 or 2020. R. 52, ll. 8-11. The state argued, however, that SLED was incredibly backlogged. R. 52, l. 15. The state received DNA results in late July or early August of 2023; however, the state ultimately did not use the DNA evidence and dismissed the two pending murder charges. R. 53, ll. 3-6.

The state then argued that appellant was arrested while in jail for ABHAN in 2021. R. 53, ll. 7-9. The state explained that, after receiving the DNA evidence from SLED, it provided a plea offer on September 7, 2023, which appellant rejected. R. 53, ll. 13-14. The state explained that a second offer was made on November 10, 2023, which was also rejected. R. 53, ll. 15-16. The state argued that the COVID-19 pandemic “knocked them back,” as the last trial was in March of 2020, and there was not another trial until September of 2021. R. 53, ll. 22-24. The state maintained that it was “doing the best” that it could. R. 54, ll. 11-13. The state thus contended that the delay was at “no fault of mine or my office.” R. 55, l. 7. The state argued that some of the delay was appellant’s own actions from “the new assault in the jail.” R. 55, ll. 17-19. The state continued that waiting for SLED was a benefit to appellant and that there had not been a violation of the speedy trial order but rather a “result of the circumstances.” R. 55, l. 24 – 35, l. 4. The state concluded that it had “not violated the order purposefully” and asked the court to deny the motion. R. 56, ll. 13-17.

Defense counsel responded that appellant was entitled to a speedy trial that he never got. R. 56, l. 23. He requested dismissal based on the speedy trial violations. R. 57, ll. 1-2. The court took the matter under advisement but noted that a jury was picked, and the trial was ready to start the next day. R. 57, ll. 3-13.

The following day, the court denied the motion to dismiss for speedy trial violations. R. 62, ll. 24-25. The court reiterated the four factors it had to consider and noted that *Langford* was

clear that a speedy trial did not mean an immediate trial. R. 60, ll. 2-13. The court noted that the state was entitled to a reasonable time to prepare its case. R. 60, ll. 12-13. It determined that six years was a sufficient trigger requiring analysis of the remaining factors. R. 60, ll. 21-23. The court continued that deliberate action by the state weighed heavily against it but that there were other neutral reasons to consider. R. 60, l. 24 – 41, l. 4. The court cited overcrowded dockets, negligence, and COVID-19 as neutral reasons. R. 61, ll. 2-4. It explained that appellant consented to “effectively two continuances by scheduling orders” but noted it was somewhat complicated with COVID-19. R. 61, ll. 15-18. It noted that alleged commission of another crime while incarcerated weighed against appellant. R. 61, ll. 20-22. The court cited the DNA from SLED delay and determined it was the fault of no one in the room, thereby concluding that the reason for delay factor was “a wash between the parties.” R. 61, ll. 22-25.

As to assertion of speedy trial rights, the court determined that “there was certainly a motion obviously made in early 2023 and an order. I – I don’t have any idea why. Nothing was done pursuant to Judge Price’s order. There are certainly no other motions filed. That’s over a year.” R. 62, ll. 1-5. Finally, as to prejudice, the court stated that *Hunsberger* noted that presumptive prejudice alone does not support dismissal. R. 62, ll. 6-12. It noted that argument was largely focused on the length of delay and did not identify any intentional delay in the record. R. 62, ll. 13-25. The court ultimately denied the motion to dismiss. R. 62, ll. 13-25.

Discussion

When analyzing speedy trial violations, the main goals of this right are to prevent undue pretrial incarceration, minimize the anxiety stemming from public accusation of a crime, and limit the possibility of long delays impairing an accused’s defense. *State v. Waites*, 270 S.C. 104, 107, 240 S.E.2d 651, 653 (1978).

“An accused’s speedy trial right begins when he is indicted, arrested, or otherwise officially accused.” *Hunsberger*, 418 S.C. at 342, 794 S.E.2d at 372 (citing *Langford*, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482) (internal quotation marks omitted). To trigger a speedy trial analysis, an accused must allege that the interval between accusation and trial “has crossed the threshold dividing ordinary from ‘presumptively prejudicial’ delay.” *Doggett v. United States*, 505 U.S. 647, 652, 112 S. Ct. 2686, 2690 (1992) (quoting *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 530-531, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 2192). Presumptively prejudicial delay exists when an accused is not prosecuted with ordinary promptness. *Hunsberger*, 418 S.C. at 343, 794 S.E.2d at 372. The length of the delay that will trigger the inquiry is dependent upon the peculiar circumstances of the case. *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 530-531, 92 S. Ct. at 2192. Generally, the delay tolerated for an ordinary street crime is less than for a serious, complex conspiracy charge. *Id.* at 531, 92 S. Ct. at 2192.

First, the trial court properly ruled that a delay of over six years triggered analysis of the remaining factors, as the delay was presumptively prejudicial. R. 60, ll. 21-23; *Doggett*, 505 U.S. at 652, 112 S. Ct. at 2690; *Hunsberger*, 418 S.C. at 343, 794 S.E.2d at 372.

Having established that appellant met his initial burden, a court then looks to four factors, considering the totality of the circumstances, to decide whether the appellant’s right to a speedy trial has been denied. *Hunsberger*, 418 S.C. at 343, 794 S.E.2d at 372 (citing *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 530-531, 92 S. Ct. at 2192; *Langford*, 400 S.C. at 441, 735 S.E.2d at 482). However, one factor alone is not dispositive of entitlement to relief. *Id.* (citing *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 533, 92 S. Ct. at 2193). The factors are: “(1) length of delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) the accused’s assertion of his right to a speedy trial; and (4) whether the delay prejudiced the accused.” *Id.* (citing *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 530-531, 92 S. Ct. at 2192). A speedy trial claim must be “analyzed

in terms of the circumstances of each case, balancing the conduct of the prosecution and the defense.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Pittman*, 373 S.C. 527, 549, 647 S.E.2d 144, 155 (2008)).

Moreover, the Supreme Court has afforded different weights to the different reasons for the presumptively prejudicial delay. On the far end of the spectrum is a deliberate delay by the prosecution to impede the defendant’s ability to defend himself. A prosecutor acts improperly if he intentionally delays a trial to gain some tactical advantage over a defendant or to harass a defendant. *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 531, 92 S. Ct. at 2192 & n. 32 (citing *United States v. Marion*, 404 U.S. 307, 325, 92 S. Ct. 455, 466 (1971); *Pollard v. United States*, 352 U.S. 354, 361, 77 S. Ct. 481, 485-86 (1957)). Such a reason should be weighed heavily against the prosecution. Even neutral reasons weigh against the state, because “the ultimate responsibility for such circumstances must rest with the government rather than with the defendant.” *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 531, 92 S. Ct. at 2192.

The third factor of the speedy trial analysis is the defendant’s assertion of his right to a speedy trial. According to the Supreme Court, “[w]hether and how a defendant asserts his right is closely related to the other factors” because the strength of his efforts will be affected by the other factors. *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 531-532, 92 S. Ct. at 2192-93. Notably, the accused’s assertion of his right to a speedy trial “is entitled to strong evidentiary weight in determining whether the accused is being deprived of the right.” *Hunsberger*, 418 S.C. at 349, 794 S.E.2d at 375 (citing *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 531-532, 92 S. Ct. at 2192-93).

Concerning prejudice, a defendant is not required to show prejudice affirmatively to win a speedy trial claim. *See Moore v. Arizona*, 414 U.S. 25, 26, 94 S. Ct. 188, 189 (1973) (explaining that “[w]e regard none of the four factors . . . as either a necessary or sufficient condition to finding a deprivation of the right of a speedy trial.”); *see also United States v. Frith*,

181 F.3d 92 (4th Cir. 1999); *U.S. v. Molina-Solorio*, 577 F.3d 300, 307-308 (5th Cir. 2009) (determining that where the first three factors together weigh heavily in favor of the accused, the Court may conclude that they warrant a presumption of prejudice, relieving the accused of his burden); *United States v. Ferreira*, 665 F.3d 701, 706-707 (6th Cir. 2011); *United States v. Clark*, 83 F.3d 1350, 1353-1354 (11th Cir. 1996) (noting that “government negligence and a substantial delay will compel relief unless the presumption of prejudice is either extenuated, as by the defendant’s acquiescence, or persuasively rebutted by the Government.” (internal quotation marks omitted)).

Notably, our Supreme Court has recognized that “an accused can assert actual prejudice or presumptive prejudice as the result of the State’s violation of his right to a speedy trial.” *Hunsberger*, 418 S.C. at 351, 794 S.E.2d at 376. “Actual prejudice occurs when the trial delay has weakened the accused’s ability to raise specific defenses, elicit specific testimony, or produce specific items of evidence.” *Id.* However, “[w]hen the government persistently fails to try an accused and the delay is excessive, the accused need not show actual prejudice in order to prevail on a speedy trial claim.” *Id.* (citing *Doggett*, 505 U.S. at 657-58, 112 S. Ct. at 2693-94). Moreover, “[w]hile presumptive prejudice cannot alone support a speedy trial claim, it is part of the mix of relevant facts, and its importance increases with the length of time.” *Id.*; *see also Doggett*, 505 U.S. at 658, 112 S. Ct. at 2693-94 (holding an accused’s right to a speedy trial was violated when his trial was delayed eight years with no showing of actual prejudice); *United States v. Ingram*, 446 F.3d 1332, 1340 (11th Cir. 2006) (holding that a two-year delay from indictment to trial resulted in a speedy trial violation when the first three factors weighed against the State and there was no actual prejudice).

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