**RECEIVED**

**Apr 17 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
Honorable Heath P. Taylor, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2024-001916

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

WILLIS TERREL IVEY,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON  
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400  
O.T. Wallace Building  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

and only weighed slightly against the State). Likewise, some of the delays incurred after jury trials resumed in Charleston County in September of 2021 resulted from the post-pandemic condition of the docket, which the trial judge—in declining to dismiss Appellant’s case—expressly recognized was something that would require *years* to fully remedy. See Langford, 400 S.C. at 444, 735 S.E.2d at 483 (recognizing the limited availability of terms of court can constitute a valid reason for delays); see also Wheeler v. State, 247 S.C. 393, 400, 147 S.E.2d 627, 630 (1966) (“A speedy trial does not mean an immediate one; it does not imply undue haste, for the state, too, is entitled to reasonable time in which to prepare its case; it simply means a trial without unreasonable and unnecessary delay.”); cf. State v. Chapman, 289 S.C. 42, 45, 344 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1986) (“A portion of the delay was caused by the normal condition of the docket. . . . The constitutional guarantee of a speedy trial affords protection only against unnecessary or unreasonable delay.”). Finally and most significantly, *none* of the delays—just as defense counsel conceded to the trial judge—resulted from any intentional, willful, or bad-faith<sup>5</sup> efforts on the part of the State to delay Appellant’s case. See Reaves, 414 S.C. at 130, 777 S.E.2d at 219 (explaining deliberate attempts to create delay to injure the defense should be weighed heavily against the State while neutral reasons, such as *mere negligence*, should be

---

<sup>5</sup> For the first time on appeal, Appellant asserts the solicitor did, in fact, act in bad faith by allegedly purposefully and expressly “disobey[ing]” the circuit court judge’s February 2022 order granting a speedy trial. (App. Br. pp. 16-17). However, defense counsel did *not* argue to the trial judge the solicitor acted in bad faith in support of his speedy trial motion and, instead, conceded he was “not arguing at any sort of intent level” or suggesting the solicitor acted maliciously. (R. p. 56). Accordingly, Appellant’s newly-conceived claim of bad faith was not properly preserved for appellate review since it was neither raised to nor considered by the trial judge when evaluating the speedy trial issue. See State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 315-316, 642 S.E.2d 582, 588 (2007) (explaining an issue conceded at trial cannot be asserted later on appeal); State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (explaining an appellant “is limited to the grounds raised at trial”); State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”).

weighed *less* heavily); cf. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. at 352, 794 S.E.2d at 376 (holding—in a sharply-divided opinion—Hunsberger’s speedy trial rights were violated where the State was responsible for an eight-year delay between arrest and trial and that period of delay was “intentional” on the State’s part). Therefore, when considering the actual reasons underlying all the delays involved, the non-willful and non-intentional period of delay incurred prior to Appellant’s trial did not warrant a finding Appellant’s speedy trial rights were infringed.

Turning to the third of the relevant factors, Appellant unquestionably did assert his speedy trial rights at various points, but, significantly, he waited to first do so until over four years after he was initially arrested and after he had already agreed to a number of continuances, including for the express purpose of obtaining forensic testing results. See Waites, 270 S.C. at 109, 240 S.E.2d at 653 (considering the length of time Waites waited before first attempting to assert his speedy trial rights and characterizing it as “significant” when conducting a speedy trial analysis); see also Langford, 400 S.C. at 440, 735 S.E.2d at 481 (recognizing delay is not an uncommon defense tactic); cf. Arnett v. State, 551 So. 2d 1158, 1160 (Ala. Crim. App. 1989) (instructing “the fact that [the defendant] waited over one year to assert his rights weighs heavily against him” in a speedy trial analysis and further instructing a defendant “cannot delay the assertion of his rights for as long as possible and then claim he was harmed by the delay”); Hunsberger, 418 S.C. at 350, 794 S.E.2d at 375 (“While Alex’s assertion of his right to a speedy trial three times was sufficient to demonstrate Alex’s desire for a speedy resolution of his charges, we find his seven-year silence renders this factor *largely neutral* in our overall evaluation.” (emphasis added)). And, once those test results were finally obtained and attempts to reach a global resolution of all the pending charges failed, the State promptly began attempting to get Appellant’s case on a trial docket, and he was ultimately tried just under a year

after rejecting the State’s last plea offer. Cf. Robinson, 335 S.C. at 626, 518 S.E.2d at 272 (considering the fact “Robinson’s trial began only ten months after his first motion [asserting his right to a speedy trial] was filed” in finding no speedy trial violation occurred in Robinson’s case). Thus, considering the delayed nature of Appellant’s initial assertion of his speedy trial rights, Appellant’s assertion of his speedy trial rights did not weigh convincingly in his favor and, instead, was a largely neutral factor.

Finally, turning to the fourth of the relevant factors, Appellant’s claims of prejudice were—and continue to be—focused exclusively on non-particularized prejudice resulting from the abnormal length of delays involved. Importantly, defense counsel did not point to any impairment to the defense that occurred as a result of the delay, and Appellant has likewise not done so on appeal. See Pittman, 373 S.C. at 550, 647 S.E.2d at 155-156 (explaining “the most serious interest to be protected by the guarantee to a speedy trial is the possibility of impairment of the defense”). Meanwhile, “not every lengthy delay results in presumptive prejudice” sufficient to warrant dismissal without a showing of actual prejudice, and that is particularly true in a case like Appellant’s where no intentional delays were involved, some of the delays resulted from agreed-upon continuances and changes in counsel on both sides, and another substantial period of delay resulted from a global pandemic. See Hunsberger, 418 S.C. at 352, 794 S.E.2d at 376 (instructing “not every lengthy delay results in presumptive prejudice” but nevertheless finding prejudice was demonstrated in Hunsberger’s case in light of the intentional nature of the delays and the fact there was “some evidence of actual prejudice”); Brazell, 325 S.C. at 75, 480 S.E.2d at 70 (explaining “delay alone is not dispositive”). Furthermore, although Appellant remained incarcerated from the time of his arrest until his trial due to the volume and seriousness of his pending charges, Appellant did receive full credit toward his sentence for *all* the time he

was incarcerated between his arrest and trial, which helped to minimize any harm that could have resulted from the delays in his case. Cf. Millard v. Lynaugh, 810 F.2d 1403, 1406-1407 (5th Cir. 1987) (concluding the prejudice resulting from pre-trial incarceration was mitigating by the fact Millard received credit for the time served in pre-trial detention towards his sentence); State v. Monroe, 262 S.C. 346, 350, 204 S.E.2d 433, 435 (1974) (considering the fact Monroe received full credit for the time he spent incarcerated prior to his trial in finding his speedy trial rights were not violated). Therefore, because defense counsel did not even attempt to suggest Appellant's defense was hampered by any of the delay involved and because Appellant did not suffer any undue prejudice as a result of the delays, Appellant was not sufficiently prejudiced by the period of delay between his arrest and trial to justify a finding his constitutional speedy trial rights were violated.

Accordingly, since the relevant circumstances in Appellant's case—including the fact it had to be prosecuted during a global pandemic that caused significant long-term issues—did not support a conclusion the six-year-and-four-month period of delay involved was the result of any intentional or willful actions on the part of the State or resulted in any undue prejudice to Appellant, Appellant's speedy trial rights were not violated. Cf. Loud Hawk, 474 U.S. at 317 (“We cannot hold, on the facts before us, that the delays asserted by respondents weigh sufficiently in support of their speedy trial claim to violate the Speedy Trial Clause. They do not justify the severe remedy of dismissing the indictment.”); Brazell, 325 S.C. at 76, 480 S.E.2d at 70-71 (“Although the delay was lengthy and the justification was unsatisfactory, Brazell's right to a speedy trial was not denied when one balances the Barker factors. The long delay was negated by the lack of prejudice to the defense. There is no evidence that the delay was willful or intentional.”); Robinson, 335 S.C. at 626-627, 518 S.E.2d at 272 (finding—despite a total

period of delay of five years—no speedy trial violation occurred when Robinson was tried within one year of his first assertion of his speedy trial rights, adequate justification was presented for delay, and no evidence of actual prejudice was introduced). Based on that, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by refusing to impose the extreme sanction of dismissal in Appellant’s case. See Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482 (“A court’s decision on whether to dismiss on speedy trial grounds is reviewed for an abuse of discretion.”); cf. State v. Evans, 386 S.C. 418, 425-426, 688 S.E.2d 583, 587 (Ct. App. 2009) (finding no error in the denial of a motion to dismiss based on an alleged speedy trial violation where the delay prior to trial was approximately *twelve years*); State v. Cooper, 386 S.C. 210, 217-218, 687 S.E.2d 62, 66-67 (Ct. App. 2009) (affirming the denial of Cooper’s speedy trial motion where the delay in bringing the case to trial was at least forty-four months). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

## II.

**The trial judge did not err either by declining to grant a directed verdict on the assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature charge or by refusing to instruct the jury on specific intent when defining that offense because: (1) specific intent was not an element of the offense; and (2) the evidence and testimony presented during trial supported a rational and logical conclusion Appellant—while acting with a criminally-culpable mental state of recklessness—unlawfully injured another person through a volitional act likely to cause death or great bodily injury and, thus, was guilty of all the actual elements of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature.**

Appellant contends the trial judge reversibly erred by refusing to: (1) grant a directed verdict on the ABHAN charge; and (2) instruct the jury a conviction for ABHAN requires proof of a specific intent to injure. As support for that contention, Appellant maintains ABHAN cannot be established without proof of a specific intent to injure or at least strike another because the version of the offense for which he was prosecuted “functions like an attempt[.]” (App. Br. p. 33). Thus, in his view, no matter how recklessly he *intentionally* drove in his dangerous attempt to avoid arrest, no matter how much he jeopardized the lives of others, and no matter how great the risks he consciously and unjustifiably chose to disregard, he could not be convicted of ABHAN for the non-fatal injury he caused unless he *meant* to crash his car into his victim’s vehicle. Importantly though and just as the trial judge aptly recognized, Appellant’s envisioned specific intent requirement appears nowhere in the statutory provision defining ABHAN. Instead, when given their plain and ordinary meaning, the words used by our legislature to define that offense allow for an ABHAN to be committed with specific *or* general criminal intent, which would encompass the mental state of recklessness. Therefore, since the evidence and testimony presented during Appellant’s trial supported a conclusion Appellant unlawfully injured another while acting in a criminally-culpable reckless manner and that injury was accomplished by means likely to cause death or great bodily injury, a rational factfinder could find Appellant guilty of each and every element of ABHAN, including the requisite mens

rea. Under such circumstances, the trial judge correctly denied the directed verdict motion and correctly declined to instruct the jury on specific intent. Appellant’s convictions, including his ABHAN conviction, should be affirmed.

### **Relevant Facts**

As previously noted and as was established during trial by the evidence and testimony presented, Appellant *intentionally* chose to erratically drive his vehicle at a speed between 90 to 100 miles per hour, which was more than double the posted speed limit, while unpredictably veering and weaving along—and off—the roadway in a frantic effort to avoid arrest. (R. p. 82; p. 86; pp. 130-132; p. 134; p. 222). Through that volitional act on Appellant’s part, Appellant, who was consciously acting to operate his car in that manner, crashed into another person’s vehicle and caused it to flip and roll over, which injured its driver—Officer Bishop. (R. p. 86; p. 132; p. 134; p. 141; p. 162; pp. 194-195; p. 223-224). And the injuries Appellant’s actions caused to the officer were only not more grievous due to sheer luck on Appellant’s and the officer’s parts. (R. p. 195). Indeed, expert testimony was presented during trial establishing what Appellant did could have resulted in serious bodily injury or death to the officer *and* the officer was “more than lucky” to have not suffered such an outcome. (R. pp. 192-193; pp. 195-196).

Based on his egregious actions, Appellant was indicted for ABHAN, and, at various points during his trial, the parties debated what level of intent was sufficient to establish that statutory offense. (R. p. 41; pp. 206-216; pp. 233-249). The solicitor argued ABHAN was a general intent crime and could be established through proof of recklessness or criminal negligence. (R. p. 206; pp. 238-239; p. 243). Conversely, defense counsel—while conceding Appellant’s actions during the incident *could* be deemed reckless—suggested ABHAN required

proof of a specific intent not only to injure but to cause great bodily injury or death to another. (R. p. 209; p. 235). Significantly, in his view, the version of ABHAN for which Appellant was indicted—unlawfully injuring another through an act accomplished by means likely to cause death or great bodily injury—was “an attempt statute” since it purportedly “talk[ed] about things that didn’t happen[.]” (R. p. 234). And, if not an attempt statute, defense counsel asserted the ABHAN statute was “overbroad” and “burden shifting” because the defense would have to “argue against hypotheticals” concerning “what could have happened[.]”<sup>6</sup> (R. p. 210).

---

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